J.A. 2-4-92 047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 8 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

LARRY ANTHONY CROSSLEY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 78,032

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

J. CRAIG WILLIAMS, ESQUIRE FLORIDA BAR NO. 0166091
211 LIBERTY STREET
SUITE ONE
JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32202
(904) 396-2537 353-365/
ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Larry Anthony Crossley, appellant below and defendant in the trial court, will be referred to herein as "petitioner." Respondent, the State of Florida, appellee below, will be referred to herein as "the State."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner filed a Motion to Suppress his out of court and in-court identification by the victim, Betty White, and Jacqueline Jones. (R-87,89)The Petitioner filed a Motion to Sever Count Three charging robbery of Jacqueline Jones from Counts One and Two charging kidnapping and robbery of Betty White. An Evidentiary Hearing was conducted on the Motion to Suppress the pre-trial identification and in-court identification. (T-1,115) denying the motion was entered. (R-87,89) The Motion to Sever was denied. (T-118) The trial was conducted on March 5, 7 and 8th. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to Count One, armed kidnapping, a verdict of guilty as to Count Two, armed robbery and Count Three, armed robbery. (R-97-99) A Motion for New Trial was filed. The Order denying the Motion for New Trial was entered on May 7, 1990. (R-101) A Sentencing Hearing was conducted and the Petitioner was sentenced as an Habitual Violent Felony Offender to a term of life with credit for 290 days jail time with a three year minimum mandatory, pursuant to Statute 775.087; and a fifteen year minimum mandatory to run concurrently with Count One. As to Count Three, he was sentenced to life with credit for 290 days jail time with a three year minimum mandatory, pursuant to Florida Statute 775.087, with a fifteen year minimum mandatory to run concurrent with Counts One and Two and he was adjudged an Habitual Violent Felony Offender. (R-131,132) A Notice of Appeal was filed on May

21, 1990. (R-133) The First District Court of Appeals entered an Opinion affirming the conviction on March 26, 1991, a timely Motion for Rehearing was filed and a Revised Opinion and an Order denying the Motion for rehearing was entered on May 9, 1991. On June 6, 1991, the Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with the First District Court of Appeals. On October 14, 1991, this Court entered an Order Accepting Jurisdiction. This Appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In a hearing on a Pre-Trial Motion to Exclude In-Court and Out of Court Identification by Betty White and Jacqueline Jones, the respective victims of the two robberies, the following testimony was adduced:

Gordon Crews testified that he had loaned his sister, Betty White, his 1979 Chevrolet Impala automobile on July 22, 1989. (T-24) Betty White next testified she was living with her brother on July 22, 1989, and borrowed his vehicle on the same date. (T-28) She left her job as a waitress at the Clock Restaurant at 5603 Main Street between 44th and 45th Street. At approximately 3:00 P.M., she entered her car and was counting her money and tips in the parking lot. (T-30,31) A "colored guy" who she subsequently referred to as a "black, a nigger I guess you call them," stuck a pistol in the window and told her to get over and lay down. (T-32) She slid over and laid with her head down on the seat facing the driver pursuant to his demand to keep her head down and her eyes shut. (T-32,33) Ms. White gave a clothing description of a netlooking cap that was either blue or red but she could not remember. A blue short sleeved shirt, grey shorts, but stated that she couldn't describe things like that. (T-32,33) He pulled behind Moncrief Liquors and told her to get out of the car, leaving with the vehicle. (T-34) She indicates her only opportunity for an identification was as she initially glanced at him when he approached the car and during her abduction she cracked her bottom

eye as she was laying face down and glanced up. (T-35,42) She "kinda peeked a little" when he got back in the car after stopping once and noticed his blue shirt. (T-36) Officer A.L. Watson of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office showed her a photospread for her to identify an individual. (T-38) She selected photos and told Detective Watson that "the bottom part from his glasses, his sunglasses from on down reminded me of his lips." (T-38,39) The person that approached her vehicle was wearing a cap and sunglasses for the entire period of time. (T-40) She wears eyeqlasses as she is far sighted and while she was laying down they popped and she raised her head and they fell on the floorboard and she could not recollect if the last time she observed the individual she had her glasses on or not. (T-41,42) The only thing she had observed when she looked out the window was from his sunglasses down to his chin as she glanced at him. (T-43) The witness was tentative in her identification as she was only pretty sure of her photographic identification. In the photograph that she selected the person had a swollen eye. (T-47) In a deposition prior to trial the witness stated it would be difficult to identify her assailant because she only had one glance and had never been through anything like that before. (T-48) Officer Senterfitt, the initial reporting officer participated in the investigation of both robberies. gave a description of a black male, a blue cap, blue shirt, light blue shorts and sunglasses, six feet tall, one hundred and seventy pounds. The officer wrote down light complexion but explained that she wasn't sure because most of what she had seen was the underside

of his arm. (T-64) Four and one-half hours later he received a bolo of a chase pursuing a vehicle matching the description of the subject vehicle. (T-55) The car ran into a fence at 45th and Moncrief and when the officer arrived he observed the Petitioner in the middle of the road being subdued by a police dog. (T-55,57) He didn't have on any type of cap or sunglasses, but only a pair of bluejeans and he did not know what color shirt he was wearing. (T-The Petitioner was then transported to the Police Memorial Building where a show-up occurred with Jacqueline Jones, an alleged robbery victim at a Banner Food Store at Cleveland and 45th. (T-60) She was told by the officer that she was coming down to view a possible suspect. (T-60) The witness purportedly identified the Petitioner noting the person who robbed her had been wearing a jacket and the shirt was different, but otherwise it was him. (T-The officer stated the witness was at the Police Memorial Building for twenty to thirty minutes. The Petitioner was handcuffed when he was identified by Ms. Jones and on the opposite side of a one-way mirror with Jacqueline Jones was Detective Watson and Officer Senterfitt. (T-65)

Jacqueline Jones, was a cashier at Banner Food Store, located at 45th and Cleveland Road, and had been so employed for approximately one year and was employed there on July 22, 1989, at approximately 6:15 P.M., when a person was purchasing a six pack of beer who she described as medium build, blue cap, dark sunglasses and a zip-up blue sweat jacket and short sleeves. He was standing across the counter from her, about two feet away and in front of

her and when she was ringing up his purchase he pulled a gun from under his shirt and told her not to say anything and to give him the money. (T-71) He reached into the register and took the money and she was looking at the gun as it was next to her stomach. (T-70) Approximately four hundred dollars was taken. (T-72) person appeared as if he had not shaved in a couple of days. (T-73) Ms. Jones was transported to 45th and Moncrief in the back of a police car and subsequently to the Police Memorial Building. (T-73) She was taken to the Police Memorial Building where she was told that they didn't want her to see the suspect or for him to see her. (T-75) The person that she saw at the Police Memorial Building was She not wearing the jacket, sunglasses or the hat. (T-75) identified the Petitioner as the person who had robbed her. (T-77) She noticed the person immediately before she rang his six pack up. She was primarily focused on the gun once it was exhibited. (T-79) As he was leaving the store she did not pay attention to him nor see him outside the store. (T-80) She indicated she was told by the police they caught a person fitting the description that she (T-80)They further indicated that they had chased had given. this person from 45th and Moncrief to the Moncrief School. (T-80) Upon her arrival she saw a car that had rammed into a fence. (T-81) She waited approximately 30 minutes there before she was taken downtown to make a positive identification. (T-92) The person was handcuffed and looked like he had just been in a fight as grass was in his hair and he was real dirty. (T-83) She indicated that she had made the statement in the past that she wasn't sure she would

be able to recognize this person if she saw him again. (T-87)

Office responded between 6:30 and 6:40 to the Banner Food Store at 45th and Cleveland Road. (T-89) He was given a description of a black male, 28 to 35 years of age, 5'6" to 5'8", needed a shave, a three day growth of beard, light mustache, dark complexion, grey shorts, white sneakers and a blue jacket without sleeves and weighing between 160 and 180. (T-90)

Detective Watson, a robbery detective with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office investigated both robberies. Jacqueline Jones viewed the Petitioner through a one-way mirror at the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office. (T-99) He showed a photo spread containing six photographs to Betty White who identified the Petitioner. (T-101) At the time the identification was made by Ms. Jones at the Police Memorial Building there were two uniformed police officers in the room with the Petitioner. (T-106) The Court denied the Motion but noted interestingly that it might have been more impermissibly suggestive if Ms. Jones had identified him at the scene rather than the Police Memorial Building under "more sterile circumstances." (T-113)

At trial Gordon Crews testified that he loaned his 1979 Chevrolet Impala, blue with a vinyl top, to his sister Betty White on July 22, 1989. Betty White testified she was a waitress and earned approximately \$100.00 that day. (T-154) A man approached her and told her to slide over and he jumped into her car. The sight of a pistol frightened her. She noticed a blue buttoned-up

shirt and grey shorts but was too afraid to see what kind of pistol it was. (T-158,159) She left her purse in the car and her purse and driver's license were found in the car. (T-166) Her identification was based on the glance of the person as he entered her car and then she was told to lay down and shut her eyes and she complied. The person had on a baseball cap, sunglasses, a blue (T-177)button-up shirt and grey shorts. She indicated that the shirt was a button-up and not a zippered jacket. (T-183) She did not recall any facial hair nor jewelry. (T-186) She could not recall any distinguishing features. (T-186) She testified that he had on grey shorts and not cut-off jean shorts as she had indicated in her initial report to Officer Senterfitt. (T-186) She told the police the person had a light complexion. (T-187) She reiterated she had only gotten a glimpse of the bottom of the person's face. (T-189) In a deposition given on November 7, 1989, she answered in response to the question, "I get the feeling that you don't think you'll be able to point this man out, is that an accurate statement?" Answer: "I don't know whether I can or not." Question: "You just don't know?" Answer: "I don't know." (T-190) She stated earlier that she had to "study the photographs for a long time," and that it could have been five to ten minutes before she made a selection. (T-191) In her deposition she stated that the detective had asked her to study the photos for a good long time before she pointed someone out and she didn't know if she got the right one or not. (T-192) She selected the photograph because it was more like the guy than any of the other pictures. (T-194) In the deposition she

indicated in response to the question: "It looks more like him than any of the other pictures?" and her answer was "Right." (T-195) The witness testified to a prior identification in a Pre-Trial Suppression Hearing. (T-206-208)

Jacqueline Jones testified that she was a cashier at the Banner Food Store at 45th and Cleveland Road on July 22, 1989. An individual was purchasing a six pack of beer when he pointed a gun at her and told her to give him the money. (T-215) She described him as a black male, 5'6", a blue cap, dark glasses, a blue jacket with short sleeves and a pair of shorts. The person looked as if he had not shaved in a couple of days. (T-215) The shorts were grey and he was approximately two to three feet away from her. (T-The weapon was a silver .38 revolver according to her. (T-215) 217) He removed over three hundred dollars from the cash register in denominations that she thought were twenties, tens and fives. She identified the Petitioner as her assailant. (T-219) The person placed the money in his jacket pocket as he was leaving and the gun underneath his jacket. (T-220) Officer Jennings told her that they had caught a person fitting the description of the robber and wanted her to make an identification. (T-223) The officers then transported her to the Police Memorial Building and told her to wait in the car until they took the suspect upstairs so neither one would view each other. (T-224) She proceeded upstairs where she saw a person sitting in a chair who was then stood up against the wall and she was asked if she could identify him and she complied. (T-224) The difference noted in his appearance was

the man at the Police Memorial Building didn't have on a jacket or sunglasses and just had on grey shorts. (T-225) She indicated she did not notice the person who committed the robbery until he was standing right by her. (T-227) The jacket that the person was wearing was a zip-up sweat type jacket with short sleeves. (T-228) In a deposition she had described his grey shorts as bluejean shorts. (T-229) The police officers communicated to her that they had caught a person fitting her description and they had to chase this person down to 45th and Moncrief at the Moncrief School. (T-231) Two uniformed officers were in the room with the Petitioner as she made the identification. (T-233) She indicated that she told the detective that he looked like the person that had robbed her. (T-234)

Frankie McDonald, a student at Florida Junior College, was in the Banner Food Store at the time of the robbery. (T-238) The witness was unable to identify the Petitioner though he indicated that he did observe a black male of medium height with a silver gun pointed in the cashier's direction. (T-239) He described the person as wearing a blue pull-over shirt and a pair of grey shorts. (T-240) The person was wearing sunglasses and a cap that was not a baseball cap. (T-242) Officer Jennings was the first officer on the scene. (T-247) He indicated he was given a description by Ms. Jones of a black male, 26 to 35 years old, 5'6" to 5'8", wearing a dark ball cap, a sleeveless blue jacket, tennis shoes and dark shorts. She indicated the shorts were grey. (T-248) She gave a description of a thin mustache as if the person had not shaved for

several days and his weight was 150 pounds. The individual had a dark complexion. (T-249) He transported Ms. Jones back to the scene of the Petitioner's arrest and to the Police Memorial Building for identification purposes at the Memorial Building.

Officer W.F. Smith testified next that he was an evidence technician and he arrived at the Banner Food Store at approximately 7:30 P.M., on July 22, 1989. (T-256) He indicated that he retrieved a six pack of beer, sprayed it with ninhydrin and requested it to be processed for latents. (T-260) Officer Ann Wingate, a latent fingerprint examiner with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office, was not able to obtain any fingerprints. (T-270)

Officer Lewis testified he was with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office Canine Unit. (T-271) He heard a bolo as to the Banner Food Store robbery and Clock Restaurant and patrolled the area. (T-275,276) During patrol he saw a vehicle matching the description of the bolo which turned down a side street and he gave chase with his blue lights on for several blocks. (T-277-280) The car came to a dead-end, made a u-turn and struck the patrol vehicle and pursuit continued. (T-281) At 45th and Moncrief the vehicle ran into a fence at the intersection. (T-282) The Petitioner exited the vehicle and the officer and his dog pursued the Petitioner who then stopped in the middle of the intersection where he was subdued. (T-284) Officer Fagan testified he assisted in the arrest of Larry Crossley. (T-290) When he first encountered the Petitioner he was in a struggle with three or four officers who were attempting to restrain him and they hog-tied him. (T-293, 294) He was placed in

back of the patrol vehicle where he was flat on the seat where noone would have been able to view him at that time. (T-295) Officer
J. P. Clarkson indicated he was a trainee in the Sheriff's Office
on July 22, 1989. (T-298) He searched the Petitioner upon his
arrest and removed money from his left rear pocket. (T-301) He
found fifteen in his right front pocket and a twenty dollar bill
and a watch in the intersection where he had been detained. (T-301)
He took two hundred and eighty dollars out of his right front
pocket with the other monies he found it totaled three hundred
fifteen dollars. (T-302) Betty White's driver's license was found
on the floorboard of the vehicle. (T-302) A search of the vehicle
did not reveal a weapon, sunglasses, baseball cap or blue shirt.
(T-307) He did not recollect the denominations of the bills but
did not recollect the bills being a bunch of one's. (T-308)

Officer Senterfitt of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office responded to the call involving Betty White. (T-312) He transported Jacqueline Jones, the cashier at Banner Food Store, to the Police Memorial Building after having taken her to the intersection where the Petitioner was arrested and then transported her back to the store to get her purse. (T-320) Officer Senterfitt testified that the distance from the Clock Restaurant where Betty White first encountered her assailant to Moncrief Liquors where she was released was 3.4 miles. (T-326) The Banner Food Store was 1.8 miles from Moncrief Liquors and from Banner Food Store to Moncrief School at 45th and Moncrief was 1.5 miles. (T-326) All the points were within a five square mile area and excluding the Clock

Restaurant they were within a 1.5 square mile area. (T-326) Detective A. L. Watson testified he was assigned the investigation He reaffirmed the the two robberies. (T-330) identification of the Petitioner while in the company of two officers by Ms. Jones. (T-333) He showed the photospread to Betty White and she took approximately five minutes before selecting the photograph of the Petitioner. (T-339) Detective Watson testified that in the photograph of the Petitioner he had one eye closed. (T-345) He had not retained the shorts worn by the Petitioner as evidence. (T-345) He had other photographs of the Petitioner with his eyes open but they were not used in the photospread. (T-349) Pre-Trial Motions to Suppress the State then rested. identifications of Betty White and Jacqueline Jones and a Motion to Sever Count Three of the Amended Information were renewed. (T-356,357)

The Petitioner testified that he was employed by Southeast Toyota and had been so employed for approximately a year and one-half. (T-389) He has previously been convicted of a felony on two prior occasions. On July 22, 1989, he stated he left his home at 5:00 and caught a bus from his grandmother's house at 44th and Main. The bus let him off at 45th and Moncrief Road where he went to the Hilltop Apartments to see a female friend of his. (T-390) She was not at home and as he headed back to the bus stop an acquaintance of his Arthur McCloud and a female companion stopped their car. (T-391) A discussion arose as to getting high so he got in the car with McCloud and his companion and went back to

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