IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 3 1991 CLERK, SUMPREME COURT By. outy Clerk Chief

SID J. WHITE

LARRY ANTHONY CROSSLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

.

CASE NO. 78,032

0A 2-4.92

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

AMELIA L. BEISNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 832413

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

This was the only issue for which petitioner sought to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction based on conflict with decisions of other state courts. Accordingly, because this Court accepted jurisdiction solely on the basis of this issue, the Court should limit its attention to this issue and should decline to address the remaining five issues which petitioner has raised in his merits brief.

Issue II: Petitioner argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress the out-of-court and in-court identifications of petitioner by both Betty White and Jacqueline Jones. However, the photo line-up that Detective Watson presented Ms. White to was not unnecessarily suggestive. Further, under all the circumstances surrounding Ms. Jones's identification of

- 5 -

petitioner, the one-person "show-up" that she attended did not give rise to a substantial likelihood of misidentification. The trial court therefore correctly denied petitioner's motion to suppress.

Issue III: Petitioner argues that he was improperly sentenced as a habitual violent felony offender after he was convicted of two first degree felonies punishable by life Because there is no felony classification imprisonment. dubbed "first degree punishable by life," and because Section 775.084, Florida Statutes clearly provides for enhanced penalties for all first degree felonies, petitioner's argument must fail.

<u>Issue IV:</u> Petitioner next claims that the trial court erred reversibly by failing to declare a mistrial after the prosecutor allegedly "vouched" for the credibility of the State's witnesses. However, petitioner failed to object to any of the prosecutor's statements on the ground that those statements constituted impermissible vouching. Thus, pursuant to this Court's decision in <u>Wasko v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, petitioner failed to preserve this issue for appellate review, and it is not properly before this Court.

Issue V: Petitioner next claims that the trial court erred reversibly by permitting the prosecutor to comment during closing argument on petitioner's failure to present Arthur McCloud as a witness. At trial, petitioner testified that he did not commit the crimes with which he was charged,

- 6 -

and that he had unknowingly borrowed the stolen car from McCloud so that petitioner could travel across town and purchase crack cocaine for McCloud. Because McCloud could have presented testimony material to petitioner's defense, the trial court properly allowed the prosecutor to comment on petitioner's failure to call him. Petitioner's argument here is therefore without merit.

Issue VI: Petitioner's final argument is that Section 77S.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes is unconstitutional because it includes within the definition of "habitual violent felony offender" defendants who have committed only one violent felony. Because the legislature's intent was to punish habitual felons who have committed at least one violent crime, rather than felons who have habitually committed violent crimes, petitioner's argument is without merit. Moreover, because both petitioner's prior offense and his current offenses were violent felonies, his argument here is unavailing.

- 7 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID NOT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SEVER THE ROBBERY OF THE CONVENIENCE STORE CASHIER FROM THE REMAINING COUNTS IN THE INFORMATION.

Petitioner's first contention before this Court is that the trial court erred in denying his motion to sever the robbery of Banner Food Store cashier Jacqueline Jones from the remaining counts in the information. Petitioner claims that the convenience store robbery should have been severed from the counts involving the robbery and kidnapping of Betty White because even if the crimes were connected geographically and temporally, they were factually so dissimilar that they "do not qualify as connected acts or transactions and thus were not related offenses chargeable in a single information and triable together." Petitioner's brief at 18. For the reasons that follow, this argument must fail.

Rule 3.150(a), Fla.R.Crim.P., which deals with joinder of offenses, provides that

[t]wo or more offenses which are triable in the same court may be charged in the same indictment or information in a separate count for each offense, when the offenses, whether felonies or misdemeanors, or both, are based on the same act or transaction or on two or more connected acts or transactions.

(Emphasis added). The trial court must grant a motion for severance upon a showing that such severance is appropriate

- 8 -

to promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.152(a)(2)(i). However, "[g]ranting a severance is largely a matter of discretion with a trial court, and the burden is on the movant to demonstrate an abuse of discretion." Johnson v. <u>State</u>, 438 So.2d 774, 778 (Fla. 1983) (citations omitted). Thus, the question before this Court is whether the trial court in the case at bar abused its discretion by denying petitioner's motion to sever.

The evidence presented before the trial court established that on July 22, 1989, at approximately 3:00 p.m., Betty White was sitting in her brother's car in the parking lot of the Clock Restaurant on Main Street between 44th and 45th Streets in Jacksonville when she was approached by a black man wearing a blue shirt, gray shorts, a blue cap and sunglasses (T III 29, 31-33). The man reached down and got a pistol, pointed the gun at White, and told her to slide over, lie down and keep her eyes shut (T III 31-32). The man then drove the car for some time with White still in it, until he let her out behind a bar on Moncrief Road (T III 34). Officer Senterfitt received the call on White's case at about 4:00 p.m., at which time he responded to an address two blocks north of the intersection of 45th and Moncrief, about five miles away from the Clock Restaurant (T III 52).

- 9 -

At approximately 6:45 p.m. that same day, Jacqueline Jones was working as a cashier at the Banner Food Store at 45th and Cleveland Road when she rang up a purchase of a six-pack of beer for a man of medium build wearing a blue cap, sunglasses, a blue sweat jacket and shorts (T III As Jones was giving the man his change, he 69-70, 72). pulled a gun from under his shirt and told her not to say anything and to give him the money from the register (T III 71). Jones let the man get the money himself, and after he did so he put the gun back in his shorts and left the store with about four hundred dollars that he had stolen from the register (T III 72). Officer Senterfitt testified that the Banner Food Store was located approximately two to three miles away from where Betty White had been let out of the car (T III 52). Senterfitt further stated that at 8:30 p.m. the night of July 22, he heard a report from a fellow officer who had spotted White's vehicle and was chasing the suspect, and that petitioner was later arrested at the intersection of 45th Street and Moncrief Road after crashing the car into a fence at the corner of the intersection (T III 55-56). At that time, petitioner had in his possession a total of three hundred and fifteen dollars in cash (T IV 302).

The aforementioned evidence supports the trial court's and the First District's determinations that the armed robbery and kidnapping of Betty White, and the armed robbery of Jacqueline Jones at the Banner Food Store, were connected

- 10 -

acts or transactions within the meaning of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.150(a). The robbery of the convenience store occurred forty-five minutes three hours and after petitioner initially approached White, and only two hours and fortyfive minutes after petitioner let White out of the car. Also, the crimes were closely related geographically. For instance, the convenience store robbery occurred only two to three miles down Moncrief Road from where petitioner had dropped off White; and petitioner was arrested at the intersection of 45th Street and Moncrief Road, only two blocks from where White had exited the vehicle, and about two to three miles from the Banner Food Store. Moreover, despite petitioner's assertion to the contrary, the crimes here were factually similar, as both incidents involved petitioner (wearing the same cap, sunglasses, and clothing) approaching the female victims and then pulling a gun on them. Finally, because the victims' descriptions of the perpetrator of the crimes were almost identical, and because the only issue in dispute at trial was whether petitioner was the man who had committed the crimes, a severance was not necessary for a fair determination of petitioner's guilt or innocence. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying petitioner's motion to sever.

The State's position here is supported by this Court's decision in <u>Livingston v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1988), wherein the Court determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by granting the State's motion to

- 11 -

In Livingston, the defendant broke into a consolidate. house at around noon on February 18, 1985, and stole two cameras, a .38 caliber pistol, and some jewelry. Later, at about 8:00 the same evening, the defendant entered a convenience store/gas station, shot the attendant twice, fired one shot at another person inside the store, and carried off the cash register. The State charged Livingston with burglary and grand theft in connection with the break-Then, when the shooting victim at the in at the house. convenience store died six weeks later, the State indicted Livingston for first-degree murder, attempted first-degree murder, armed robbery, and displaying a weapon during a The trial court granted the State's motion to robbery. consolidate all charges for trial, and Livingston was convicted as charged.

On appeal, Livingston argued that the trial court committed reversible error by consolidating all of the charges against him. This Court, however, held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by consolidating the charges because although the crimes charged were dissimilar, they were "connected in an episodic sense because they occurred only hours apart in the same small town and because the pistol stolen in the burglary became the instrument for effecting the armed robbery and murder." Id. at 1290 (citations omitted).

- 12 -

The evidence in the case at bar supporting joinder of the charges against petitioner is even more compelling than that in Livingston. For example, whereas the crimes in Livingston occurred some eight hours apart, the time between petitioner's initial approach of Betty White in the parking lot of the Clock Restaurant and petitioner's arrest shortly after 8:30 spanned only five and a half hours, and the armed robbery of the Banner Food Store occurred only two hours and forty-five minutes after petitioner let White out of the car. Also, the crimes here occurred not only in the same town, but on or around the same street (Moncrief Road) within a few miles of each other. Furthermore, while the crimes consolidated in Livingston were dissimilar (burglary and grand theft, as opposed to first-degree murder and armed robbery), both of the incidents for which petitioner was charged involved armed robberies of petitioner's female victims. Thus, the incidents here were connected in an episodic sense, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying petitioner's motion to sever.

The State's position here is further supported by this Court's decision in Johnson v. State, supra. In Johnson, this Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the defendant's motion to sever the murder of a cab driver from charges involving two other murders occurring some three hours later in another location. In so holding, the Court relied on the fact that "only hours separated the three homicides and related crimes." <u>Id</u>., 438 50.2d at 778. This Court further determined that a severance was not necessary to fairly determine the defendant's guilt or innocence of the crimes charged. <u>Id</u>. Again, the facts present in the case at bar are more compelling than those in <u>Johnson</u>, and the trial court here correctly denied petitioner's motion to sever.

To support his argument here, petitioner relies primarily on the third District's decision in Jones v. State, 497 So.2d 1268 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), which petitioner asserts is in direct conflict with the First District's decision in the instant case. For the reasons set forth in its jurisdictional brief in this cause, the State again contends that there is no express and direct conflict between the two decisions. Nevertheless, assuming that the two decisions are in conflict, this Court should affirm the First District's decision in the instant case.

The facts in <u>Jones</u>, as set forth in the Third District's opinion, were as follows:

On January 16, 1985, at approximately 6:00 p.m., two males kidnapped Franklin Morrison, robbed him, and fled in his car. At approximately 9:00 p.m., driving the same car, two males robbed, shot, and killed Marlene Dougherty. On 28, January 1985, police stopped Morrison's car and arrested its occupants for grand theft the of Morrison car. The car's occupants included defendant seventeen-year-old Keith Jones and a codefendant who is not a party to this appeal.

- 14 -

Id. at 1269. Finding that under the circumstances "the only connection between the two criminal episodes was the use of the stolen car and the accused's alleged participation" in those episodes, the Third District held that severance of the offenses was mandated by this Court's decisions in <u>State v. Williams</u>, 453 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1984), and <u>Paul v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1980). Jones, 497 So.2d at 1272.

It appears from the aforestated facts that <u>Jones</u> was wrongly decided, particularly in light of this Court's decision in <u>Livingston v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. As was the case in <u>Livingston</u>, the defendant in <u>Jones</u> committed two separate offenses within a short period of time. Indeed, the time span between offenses in <u>Jones</u> (approximately three hours) was much shorter than that in <u>Livingston</u> (eight hours). Moreover, just as in <u>Livingston</u>, an item stolen from the first victim in <u>Jones</u> (i.e., Morrison's car) became an instrumentality of the second offense. Thus, pursuant to <u>Livingston</u>, the trial court in <u>Jones</u> did <u>not</u> abuse its discretion in determining that the two offenses were connected and triable together, and the Third District's decision to the contrary was incorrect.

The State further briefly notes that this is not a case such as those on which petitioner relies, in which the crimes with which the defendant was charged occurred over a period of days (<u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Williams</u>, 453 50.2d 824 (Fla. 1984)) or months (See Hoxter v. State, 553 50.2d 785

- 15 -

(Fla. 1st DCA 1989)). Accordingly, the cases cited by petitioner are simply inapposite to the situation that exists here.

Finally, even if the trial court did err in denying petitioner's motion to sever, the error was harmless. Again, the evidence presented below rather clearly established that the same person committed the crimes against Betty White and Jacqueline Jones. Furthermore, petitioner's defense below was that he had unwittingly borrowed the car stolen from White from Arthur McCloud sometime after the crimes were committed. Thus, the focus of petitioner's defense below was that the person who had committed the crimes against White and Jones was someone other than petitioner, and that that "someone" was apparently Arthur McCloud. The jury clearly believed that petitioner, who was caught running from White's brother's car, which he had crashed while attempting to flee from the police in it, had stolen the car and had also robbed White and Jones.¹ Thus, under the circumstances of this case any error committed by the trial court in denying petitioner's

The evidence showing that petitioner had fled the stolen car, and that he had money on his person that tied him to the convenience store robbery, would have been admissible pursuant to Section 90.404(2), Fla. Stat. (1989) to prove the identity of the perpetrator of the convenience store robbery, particularly in light of the fact that the victims' descriptions of the perpetrator of the crimes were so similar. Thus, petitioner's assertion that "[under the concept of the <u>Williams Rule</u> the crimes would not have been admissible in separate trials" (Petitioner's brief at 18) is incorrect.

motion to sever was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See <u>Livingston</u>, 565 50.2d at 1291.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE VICTIMS' OUT-OF-COURT AND IN-COURT IDENTIFICATIONS OF PETITIONER.

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